

## Overcoming the Energy Efficiency Gap: a Motivation, Opportunity and Ability Approach.

Clément Baudelaire

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of Master of Engineering Division of Engineering and Technology Management National University of Singapore 2014

## Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is my original work and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have duly acknowledged all the sources of information which have been used in the thesis.

This thesis has also not been submitted for any degree in any university previously.

G

Clément Baudelaire, 12 April 2014.

## Acknowledgements

Research is merely an individual adventure. This thesis is not an exception to the rule, and I want here to thank the people who made this study possible.

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Chai Kah Hin, whose exceptional availability throughout these two semesters has been a key in the accomplishment of this thesis. His open mind has always been heedful of my numerous questions and concerns and his constant advice was crucial to stay on the right track. His way of thinking and answering research questions has inspired this work, but, most importantly, will inspire me for my future career. It has been a true pleasure during this year to work with such a patient, optimistic and encouraging teacher.

Second, I would like to thank Prof. Atreyi Kankanhalli from NUS who kindly welcomed me in her Information Systems module and who was always prompt to help me with the data analysis part of this study. Her substantial expertise in that field greatly contributed to the correctness of the analysis, and, overall, to the quality of this work.

Third, I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Beng Wah Ang from Department of Industrial & Systems Engineering in NUS, whose immense knowledge in energyrelated matters substantially helped me get a clearer picture on energy efficiency issues.

Finally, I want to thank my family and my friends, who, despite the distance that separated us, kept supporting me during this year. En vérité, le chemin importe peu, la volonté d'arriver suffit à tout.

Albert Camus, Le Mythe de Sisyphe.

## Table of contents

Summary	7
List of figures	8
List of tables	9
Nomenclature	10
1. Introduction	11
1.1. Context	11
1.2. Research question	14
1.3. Main contributions	14
1.4. Outline of the thesis	15
2. Literature review	18
2.1. Energy efficiency implementation	18
2.2. Energy efficiency gap and barriers	19
3. Research model and hypotheses development	26
3.1. The Motivation, Opportunity and Ability theory	26
3.2. Definition of variables	28
3.3. Hypotheses development	30
3.3.1. Direct effects of Motivation	30
3.3.2. Direct effects of Admity 3.3.3. Direct effects of Opportunity	32
3.3.4. Moderating effects of Monitoring Ability	34
3.4. Research model	36
4. Research methodology	37
4.1. Data collection	37
4.2. Sample analysis	37
4.3. Non-response bias	38
4.4. Construct operationalization	40

5. Data analysis and results	44
5.1. Sector invariance	44
5.2. Firm's size invariance	45
5.3. Test of measurement model and common method bias	47
5.4. Test of structural model	51
5.5. Results	53
5.5.1. Direct effects model	53
5.5.2. Interaction model	53
6. Discussion and Conclusion	56
6.1. Discussion	56
6.2. Implications to research	61
6.3. Limits and future work	62
References	63

### Summary

In this paper we investigate the main barriers to energy efficiency in Singapore industries. Energy efficiency has been identified to be the most cost-effective and reliable way of addressing climate change issues. Yet its potential remains largely untapped. In order to understand the barriers that hinder its adoption we first build a theoretical framework based on the well-acknowledged Motivation, Opportunity, and Ability (MOA) theory, which is an original perspective for an energy-related study. Such an approach goes beyond the simple descriptive analysis of the presence or not of barriers in the given context and enables to test the impact of barriers – or drivers – on energy efficiency efforts. Besides, and to our knowledge, no study has considered the effects of performance measurement on performance itself and its determinants in the MOA framework. Hence we extend the latter by including the firm's ability to monitor energy efficiency outcomes as an exogenous moderating variable.

In order to test this novel framework we use the data collected from the Fifth Fuel Project. More than 150 questionnaires from various industrial sectors were obtained and used to compute the structural model, using a partial least squares method. The results show that the wish to cut operating costs and firm's know-how to implement energy efficiency have both a positive, statistically significant impact on energy efficiency outcomes. Know-how itself is driven by firm's know-what, which reflects the awareness and the fundamental understanding of energy efficiency. Interestingly, the ability to monitor energy efficiency outcomes moderates the impact of cost-driven motivation. By contrast, firm's corporate social responsibility, regulatory compliance, and opportunity to implement energy efficiency are found to have no significant effect on energy efficiency outcomes in the context of the study. Eventually, we discuss the implications to research of this work.

## List of figures

Figure 1 - Shares of global final energy consumption and CO2 emissions by sector,

2005.	13
Figure 2 - Proposed research model.	36
Figure 3 - Firms' size distribution.	45
Figure 4 - Moderation effect of Monitoring ability.	54
Figure 5 - Supported hypotheses.	55

## List of tables

Table 1 - Type of wastes.	19
Table 3 - MOA components and definitions.	29
Table 4 - Non-response rate analysis.	38
Table 5 - Non-response bias test.	39
Table 7 - ANOVA for sector invariance.	44
Table 8 - ANOVA for firms' size invariance.	46
Table 9 – Factor analysis (rotated matrix).	49
Table 10 – Construct correlations versus square root of AVE.	49
Table 11 – Item loadings of reflective constructs.	50
Table 12 – Item weights of formative constructs.	50
Table 13 – Results of structural model.	52

## Nomenclature

AVE	Average Variance Extracted
CM	Cost-driven motivation
$\mathrm{CO}_2$	Carbon dioxide
CR	Composite Reliability
CSR	Corporate Social Responsibility
EE	Energy Efficiency outcomes
EI	Ease of implementation
GHG	Greenhouse gases
IB	Internal buy-in
KH	Know-how
KW	Know-what
LC	Legal compliance
MA	Monitoring ability
MOA	Motivation Opportunity Ability
PLS	Partial Least Squares
PNNL	Pacific Northway National Laboratory
SEM	Structural Equation Modeling
SME	Small and medium enterprises
USA	United States of America
VA	Voluntary Agreement
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor

## 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Context

Addressing climate change is a complex problem that inevitably calls for multiple solutions, originating from multiple sensibilities (e.g. science, economics, finance, management), undertaken at multiple scales (e.g. firm, state, or worldwide) and involving multiple stakeholders (e.g. politicians, institutions). Battling the increasing global green house gases (GHG) emissions – and especially  $CO_2$  emissions, which were 65% higher in 2004 than in 1971 (Worrel, Bernstein et al., 2009) – is one of these solutions. Technological answers to this crucial issue are now identified: 1) foster the development of renewable energies, 2) capture and store the  $CO_2$ , and 3) improve the global energy efficiency, which is how much output one can produce with one unit of energy. If promising, the two first options are not economically viable at present stage and fossil fuels will still remain the main energy source to satisfy global energy demand. By contrast, energy efficiency addresses climate change issues without severely compromising the energy trilemma, that is, the need for a reliable, affordable, and clean energy. The benefits of energy efficiency even go beyond mitigating GHG emissions. They include reduced investments in energy infrastructure, lower fossil fuel dependency, improved competitiveness and increased consumer welfare (IEA, 2008). Hence, enhancing energy efficiency has became a major concern for policy-makers, resulting in large public investments and concrete energy targets to be reached in a narrow time window. As an example, the European Union's Energy Efficiency Directive, supported by a 265 million euro-funds, is aiming to cut 20% in Europe annual primary energy consumption by 2020. These ambitious targets are in fact reasonably aligned with the colossal, albeit largely untapped, energy efficiency potential. As an example McKinsey & Co. (2010, p. 4) estimated that the United States could save more than a trillion dollars in energy savings by 2020 if substantial

efforts were made for energy efficiency.

Needless to say, the industry sector has a major role to play in the seek for energy efficiency since it consumes nearly one third of total global primary energy supply and 38% of energy related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (IEA, 2007) (see Figure 1). Even for this highlyconsuming sector, energy management is not fully prioritized (Thollander et al., 2010) and there is still a great improvement potential demonstrated by many studies (Caffal, 1995; Neelis and Pouwelse, 2008; Christoffersen et al., 2006; Rohdin and Thollander, 2006; Thollander et al., 2010). As an example, the IEA (2006, p. 386) found that the "energy intensity of most industrial processes is at least 50% higher" than the theoretical minimum given by thermodynamic laws. Likewise, two US studies conducted by the Energetics Team and Pacific Northway National Laboratory (PNNL) have revealed a waste heat recovery potential exceeding 1.6 quadrillion Btu per year (about 1.6% of US total energy consumption in 2006) (Energetics 2004; PNNL, 2006). For developing countries in which industry drives much of the economy, resulting in high energy intensity levels, restraining global consumption to meet energy targets may seem challenging. Yet energy efficiency is an effective way to solve the complex equation of competitiveness, rising energy prices, and stringent energy consumption targets imposed by governments. Given the particular interest of the industry sector in the seek for energy efficiency, this study will stick to this sector. More precisely, the scope of our research focuses on Singapore-based industries. The city-state is a place of special interest for an energy-related study since it has no significant natural resources to tap on and since its open economy is inevitably prone to energy prices fluctuations. This very situation makes it the "third-most expansive destination for utility costs" in the world (The Economist, 2014, p. 1). Embarking on energy efficiency is therefore crucial for Singapore since such policies would help it reduce its dependence on foreign energy supplies and mitigate carbon emissions associated with energy use.

12



#### Figure 1 - Shares of global final energy consumption and CO2 emissions by sector, 2005.

Much of the academic and policy research about energy efficiency have addressed the latter by understanding the "energy gap", that is, the "paradox of gradual diffusion of apparently cost-effective energy efficient technology" (Jaffe and Stavins, 1994). Weber (1997) first proposed the idea of the existence of energy efficiency barriers that hamper energy efficiency implementation. Three non-exclusive broad categories are introduced to better apprehend them: barriers are economical, behavioral and/or organizational. Sorrel et al. (2000) further broke down these categories and highlighted, among other barriers, the presence of hidden costs, access to capital issues, imperfect information, adverse selection, split incentives or principal-agent relationships problems. Despite the multidisciplinary nature of energy efficiency-related studies, energy barriers are, in essence, mainstream economics concepts, and consist, for example, in market failures that is, the deviances from the assumptions of perfect markets – and non-market failures. Most studies dealing with energy efficiency adopt a descriptive approach in which barriers relevant to the context are identified, then scored according to the respondents' perceptions of barriers' importance. The higher the score, the most present is the barrier, and implicitly, the more the barrier hampers energy efficiency efforts. If empirically identifying barriers in different contexts is far from straightforward, these studies, as a matter of fact, test only half of the energy barriers concept since they do not statistically examine the causal link between barriers and energy efficiency attempts. That is, among identified barriers, which are the ones that

have a real impact on energy efficiency initiatives? Arguably, investments for energy efficiency would better pay off it they are targeted on the very barriers – or drivers – that affect the most energy efficiency. This lack of understanding is an important research gap that need to be addressed.

#### 1.2. Research question

In order to fill the research gap identified earlier, this work endeavors to understand the mechanisms underlying an industry's energy efficiency outcomes and their obstacles from a different perspective than the mainstream economics angle. Based on the Motivation, Opportunity and Ability theory we aim to examine the impact of energy efficiency antecedents.

#### **1.3.** Main contributions

This study provides three main contributions to the energy-related knowledge.

First, we use a novel, parsimonious framework to better understand how barriers – and drivers – affect an industry's energy efficiency outcomes. We believe our framework, based on the Motivation, Opportunity and Ability (MOA) theory, can aid industries implement more effectively their energy efficiency projects. Grouping barriers into broader concepts – namely, M, O, and A – gives a clear and parsimonious view on the impact of fundamental barriers which aids the interpretation of the findings. Further, we believe that the founding principles of the MOA theory, that mostly lie in management science, give a fresh perspective on energy efficiency matters. These principles are also well suited to address the management realities that encounter industries when they implement energy efficiency. Previous studies have indeed extensively used mainstream economics concepts, such as split incentives or adverse selection, to understand how energy barriers act. As a result, and to our best knowledge, no real theoretical alternative has been suggested to tackle energy efficiency issues. This study is one answer to this absence.

Second, going further than identifying key barriers in our research context of Singapore industries, we examine the nature of the relationships between some of these barriers and we discuss their impact on firm's energy efficiency outcomes. Studies that both identify barriers and test their impacts are notably scarcer than studies that stick to the first stage. As a result, links between barriers and energy efficiency implementation remain much less understood than the question of existence of these barriers.

Third, we expand the traditional MOA model by adding a monitoring ability variable as an exogenous moderator and statistically test its effect. Despite an extensive literature on the role of performance measurement in organizations, no MOA-based study has ever discussed the importance of this factor on performance. Likewise, when looking at energy efficiency-related works, we find that few studies have stressed the relevance of energy monitoring, and none has attempted to quantify its impact. Our work discuss how this variable can be incorporated in the traditional MOA framework and how it affects an industry's energy efficiency outcomes.

#### 1.4. Outline of the thesis

This study consists of six chapters. A brief description of each chapter is listed as follows:

**Chapter 2** – **literature review.** In this chapter we identify the solutions that an industry may use to improve its energy efficiency. If these means are now well-identified, energy efficiency is overall seldom embraced. This infamous paradox, referred to as the "energy efficiency gap" has been explained by the existence of "energy barriers" that impede the adoption of energy efficiency. We analyze the nature of these barriers and describe how previous studies have used them to understand the

mechanisms that prevent energy efficiency implementation. This review is followed by a discussion of the limitations of previous studies. variable.

Chapter 3 – hypotheses development. In this chapter we first present the general MOA theory, its origins and its applications in past academic research. Then after we point out an important gap in the model, namely the absence of a performance measurement. We then detail the concepts and the variables that are used in the theoretical framework. The MOA model is specified within the context of energy efficiency. Based on the extensive literature review made in Chapter 2 and on the fundaments of the MOA theory we then establish the set of hypotheses that are proposed of empirical testing. Direct effects as well as one moderating effect are discussed.

Chapter 4 – survey instrument development and implementation. A largescale survey is chosen as a research methodology to verify the hypotheses expressed in Chapter 3 and the unit of analysis consists in Singapore industries. In this section we first explain the data collection process, analyze the sample of the respondents and test for any non-response bias. We then detail how we operationalize the theoretical constructs with measurable items and how these items are adapted from the mainstream literature and from preliminary interviews with industry executives. We take special care in clarifying which constructs are reflective and which are formative since incorrect model specification can inflate Type I and Type II errors risk.

Chapter 5 – data analysis and results. Following the procedures established in Chapter 4, a total sample size of 143 industries from various sectors and with completed data is used in our analysis. We first test the measurement model by performing a confirmatory factor analysis in SPSS for the reflective constructs and a factor weight analysis in SmartPLS for the formative ones. We then test the hypotheses regarding direct effects in the model through Structural Equation Modeling (SEM). For certain reasons expressed in Chapter 3 we use a Partial Least Square (PLS) approach. Finally the hypothesis regarding the moderating effect is examined by performing a linear regression.

**Chapter 6** – **discussion and conclusion.** In this chapter we sum up the research findings corresponding to the hypotheses we proposed in Chapter 3. We also present and discuss the possible explanations of these results. Contributions and implications of our work are addressed to researchers. Eventually we discuss the limitations of our study and suggest possible future research orientations.

## 2. Literature review

In this chapter we first provide some insights about how industries may practically implement energy efficiency. We show that these systematic solutions are now wellidentified and well-understood. Yet the huge potential of energy efficiency is scarcely exploited. Section 2 introduces the theory of energy barriers to explain this paradox known as the "energy efficiency gap" and extensively describes these barriers based on past literature. This section shows that despite numerous attempts to (re)classify energy barriers into pertinent groups, nothing appreciably new has been said about their nature. In section 3 we give a fresh perspective on energy efficiency and present the Motivation, Opportunity and Ability theory upon which we build the research model. Eventually, we express our research questions.

#### 2.1. Energy efficiency implementation

Industries are fundamentally given with three technical ways to embrace energy efficiency. First, they may simply evaluate their energy consumption and identify the energy wasted in the production process. The Table 1 below (McKinsey & Co., 2010) gives a possible classification of wastes types. Alternatively industries may optimize the energy integration in heating and cooling processes (e.g. proper use of insulation and utilization of exhausted heat from one to another process). Finally, industries may adopt more energy-efficient technologies.

As an alternative approach, Herrmann and Thiede (2009) suggest that improving energy efficiency can be operationalized at three different layers in the industry: 1) production process and machine (e.g. efficient shutdown procedures), 2) production system (e.g. minimizing waste or using opportunities of time and location shifting, such as producing at night to save costs), and 3) technical building services (e.g. avoiding of unnecessary demand). As it can be seen, the two approaches described below somehow overlap, and the industrial processes advocated by researchers to implement energy efficiency tend to converge to the same fundamental ideas (see also Müller et al., 2009).

Types of waste	Definition	Example
1 Overproduction	Producing excess energy	Venting excess steam
2 Waiting	Consuming energy while	Laser welding line on standby still
	production is stopped	consumes 40% of maximum energy
3 Transportation	Inefficient transportation	Leaks and heat radiation in steam
	of energy	network
4 Overspecification	Process energy	Blast furnace operating at $1,100^\circ\mathrm{C}$
	consumption	instead of the required 1,000°C
	(deliberately) higher than	
	necessary	
FT /	Channel and de anna /la an	
5 Inventory	Stored goods use/lose	Crude steel cools in storage, is then
5 Inventory	energy	reheated for rolling
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap	energy Insufficient reintegration	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap	energy Insufficient reintegration in upstream process when	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did         not get coagulated in drying
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap	energy Insufficient reintegration in upstream process when quality is inadequate	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did         not get coagulated in drying         process
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap 7 Inefficient processes	energy Insufficient reintegration in upstream process when quality is inadequate Energy-inefficient	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did         not get coagulated in drying         process         Excess oxygen in steam boiler
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap 7 Inefficient processes	energy Insufficient reintegration in upstream process when quality is inadequate Energy-inefficient processes	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did         not get coagulated in drying         process         Excess oxygen in steam boiler
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap 7 Inefficient processes 8 Employee potential	stored goods use/lose energy Insufficient reintegration in upstream process when quality is inadequate Energy-inefficient processes Failure to use people's	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did         not get coagulated in drying         process         Excess oxygen in steam boiler         Employees not involved in
5 Inventory 6 Rework/scrap 7 Inefficient processes 8 Employee potential	energy Insufficient reintegration in upstream process when quality is inadequate Energy-inefficient processes Failure to use people's potential to identify and	Crude steel cools in storage, is then         reheated for rolling         Re-drying polymer lines that did         not get coagulated in drying         process         Excess oxygen in steam boiler         Employees not involved in         developing energy savings

#### Table 1 - Type of wastes.

### 2.2. Energy efficiency gap and barriers

As mentioned above, the methods to implement energy efficiency are now well identified. Moreover, the energy efficient technologies in which an industry may invest to improve its energy efficiency are mature and already available on the market. Further, improving energy efficiency seems appealing for industries since, among other things, it may help them reduce their production costs. Nevertheless, empirical studies lead to the conclusion that what is now referred to as the "fifth fuel" remains largely untapped. This paradoxically slow diffusion of energy efficient technologies has been coined "energy efficiency gap" by Jaffe and Stavins (1994) and acts as a justification for policy intervention. This "gap" has been traditionally explained by listing and describing the numerous "energy barriers" that could refrain industries from implementing energy efficiency (Sorrell, 2000) and that are defined as the "postulated mechanisms that inhibit investment in technologies that are both energy efficient and economically efficient" (Sorrell et al., 2004). Therefore, overcoming these barriers becomes a priority to achieve the aforementioned energy efficiency potential for the policy-markers.

If energy efficiency have been studied by a wide range of scientific disciplines, such as economics, organizational or behavioral sciences, energy barriers remain for a large part a mainstream economics concept. In a much-cited review, Sorrell (2000) distinguishes four non-exclusive groups of barriers, namely, market failures, non-market failures, behavioral and organizational barriers. In what follows, we develop some of the key barriers found in Sorrell taxonomy and reported in Table 2.

Market failures typically involve *imperfect* or *asymmetric information* issues. The energy service market does not deliver enough quality information about the energy performance and opportunities of different technologies, leading to cost-effective decisions being missed and sub-investment in energy efficiency. Product labeling is one solution to practically address this issue. Further, asymmetric information difficulties happen when the seller of a technology does not disclose some information about the product to the buyer. Such information retention by the seller is known as *adverse selection*, and is a market failure. In a different context that energy efficiency, one famous example of adverse selection is given by Akerlof (1970) with the market for second-hand cars. In such a market, buyers face difficulties assessing the quality of the good, so sellers are incentivized to market goods at lower-than-average quality. Further, embracing energy efficiency involves buying new, unfamiliar technology for the firm, dealing with multiple intermediaries and suppliers. As Sorrel et al. (2011) remarks, purchases are infrequent because of equipment's long lifetime, technical change is quicker than purchasing flow, and therefore, asymmetric information issues are continuously occurring.

*Risk* has also been recognized to put a strain on energy efficiency efforts. Risk is a multicomponent barrier and may include, for example, the risk regarding economic trends (inflation, interest rates), financial risks, or technological risks. Albeit mature and reliable, new, unfamiliar technologies may cast doubts on the buyer, who anticipates that costs associated with breakdowns or maintenance will overweight the cost reduction potentials. *Perceived* ease of use and *perceived* usefulness are here more relevant than the intrinsic technical capabilities of the equipment, as the widely accepted Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1989) recalls.

The other frequently identified market failure is the presence of *hidden costs*. This typically occurs when engineering-economic studies fail to account for either the reduction in utility associated with energy efficient technologies, or the additional costs associated with their use (Nichols, 1994). The direct consequence of such costs is the overestimation of energy efficiency potential. Hidden costs may refer to the costs of energy management (costs of specifically trained employees, of metering and analyzing energy data, of auditing), the costs involved in individual technology decisions (costs of disruption, of additional staff for maintenance, etc.), or the loss of utility resulting from energy efficiency-related decisions (degradation of working conditions, lower reliability, etc.) (Sorrel et al., 2011).

As Hirst and Brown (1990) have pointed out, the *lack of access to capital* is another major obstacle in the seek for energy efficiency. This is typically relevant for SMEs, which have low internal capital capabilities and are subject to high interest rates. Other capital investments may be perceived as more important and requirement for short payback periods illustrate how lack of access to capital can manifest itself. DeCanio (1998) analyses company-level data from the United States Environmental Protection Agency's Green Lights program in the industry sector. His study shows that, among other things, a set of organizational and bureaucratic barriers control firms' investment behaviour.

The existence of these barriers is now widely recognized and serves as a starting for many studies dealing with energy efficiency. In addition to the traditional economic, behavioral and organizational pattern used by Sorrell, some authors from various fields of research have developed new systematic taxonomies to classify barriers. The rationale for such studies is that sorting out barriers aids the understanding of barriers and drivers, as categories may be even more relevant for policy-making than the barriers themselves. Liu et al. (2013) split drivers for energy savings activities into external and internal ones, the external drivers beings coercive, normative, or mimetic and the internal ones being the energy saving strategy orientation, the top management support, and the learning capacity. In their study, Vine et al. (2003) showed that the identified barriers could be classified into 1) a lack of information about energy use, 2) a lack of access to information about financing investments in general and 3), a low importance given to energy efficiency in decision-making. Watson et al. (2012) come up with five categories: financial/cost, cultural, technical, institutional/regulatory, and ability (skill). As a last example, Sudhakara Reddy (2013) distinguishes micro, meso and macro-level barriers. If taxonomies labels vary across studies, it appears that these categorizations do overlap since the key barriers remain the same. As Sorrell et al. (2004) remarks, categories of barriers are often non-exclusive, and barriers may co-exist and interact. Further, the existence of multiple frameworks make comparison of studies results ticklish.

Some authors have also tried to estimate the relative importance of the barriers identified in the given unit of research, typically a region (e.g. UNEP 2006) or a country (e.g. Nagesha and Balachandra 2006; Rohdin and Thollander 2006; Thollander and Ottosson 2008; Wang, Wang et al. 2008). These descriptive approaches typically consist in computing a score of relevance for each of the identified barriers based on interviews and/or surveys; alternatively, they advocate how great is the fraction of respondents who agreed on the presence or the absence of a given barrier.

Category	Theoretical barriers	Comment
Market failure/market imperfection	Imperfect information	Information imperfections, for example, lack of information, may lead to cost-effective energy efficiency measures not being undertaken
	Adverse selection	If a seller knows more about the energy performance of a technology than the buyer does, the buyer may select goods on the sole basis of price or visible aspects such as color and design
	Principal- agent relationship	Strict monitoring and control by the principal, since he or she cannot observe what the agent is doing, may result in the overlooking of energy efficiency measures
	Split incentives	If a person or department cannot benefit from an energy efficiency investment, the most likely outcome is the nontake-up of the measure
Nonmarket failures/non- market imperfections	Hidden costs	Hidden costs include overhead costs related to the investment, cost of collecting and analysing information, and production disruptions
	Access to capital Risk	Limited access to capital may inhibit cost-effective energy efficiency measures from being implemented Risk avarsion may result in cost-effective energy efficiency measures not being undertaken
	Heterogeneity	A technology or measure may be cost-effective in most locations but not in others, leading to excessive potential being claimed for the technology
Behavioral barriers	Form of information	Research has demonstrated that to increase the diffusion and acceptance of information on cost- effective energy efficiency technologies, the information should be specific, vivid, simple, and personal
	Credibility and trust	The source of information must be considered credible and trustworthy by the receiver in order to successfully deliver information about cost- effective energy efficiency technologies
	Values	Energy efficiency improvements are more likely to be of interest if the organization consists of individuals with real ambition
	Intertia	Individuals are often hesitant to change, which may, in turn, result in the overlooking of cost-effective energy efficiency measures
	Bounded rationality	Instead of being made based on, for example, perfect information and complete rationality, decisions are often made in constrained environments that result in limited, or bounded, decisions, i.e., nonoptimal from a fully rational point of view
Organizational	Power	Low status of energy managers may lead to energy issues being assigned a low priority in industrial organizations
	Culture	Over time, organizations may encourage energy efficiency investments by developing a culture characterized by environmental values; for example, the core values of an industrial organization may inhibit or promote energy efficiency

Table 2 - Energy barriers

To our knowledge few attempt to describe the possible relationships and interactions between these barriers. Few also, have tried to answer the next central question, which is, once the barriers are identified and *perceived* as relevant in the context of the study, what barriers have the most significant impact on energy efficiency efforts. Arguably, the identified barriers in the context of the study are not all equal in their impact on energy efficiency. Further, efforts to alleviate these barriers would better pay off if they are targeted on barriers that affect the most energy efficiency initiatives. Eventually, such descriptive studies often fail to prioritize these efforts to provide effective policies. As a result, the effects of barriers remain much less understood than the existence of these barriers.

Addressing this important issue requires more quantitative methods. One way to examine a possible correlation between barriers – or drivers – and energy efficiency, consists in testing an econometric regression in which the dependent variable that measures energy efficiency efforts is a linear combination of self-assessed barriers and control variables, such as firm size or share of energy costs in total costs. The regression coefficients are then computed, their significance is discussed (e.g. Sardianou, 2007). Based on theory, significant correlations may indicate a significant causality.

The results of all these descriptive and predictive studies greatly vary with the context of research. As an example, technical risk of production disruption has been found to be a serious barrier to energy efficiency investment in foundry industry (Rohdin et al., 2007) and in Swedish pulp and paper industry (Thollander and Ottosson, 2008) but insignificant for German SMEs (Fleiter et al., 2012). Lack of capital is often identified as a key obstacle (e.g. Velthuijsen, 1993; Anderson and Newell, 2004; Thollander et al., 2007; Trianni and Cagno, 2012; Fleiter et al., 2012), which indicates that initial expenditure needed for energy efficiency projects are determinant but there are notable exceptions (e.g. Harris et al., 2000). Eventually, lack of information is pointed out as a key barrier in several studies (e.g. Schleich and Gruber, 2008; Kostka et al., 2011). Along with barriers, Fleiter et al. (2012) point out that the intrinsic characteristics of energy-efficiency measures themselves may also help explain low diffusion rates of energy efficient technologies.

If energy barriers are relevant to understand the fundamental mechanisms that may hinder or foster the adoption of energy efficiency at the macro-level, such an approach is less suited to describe what happens at the firm level. Most of concepts related to energy barriers, such as market failures or uncertainty, may not be adequate tools to help CEOs and executives adopt energy efficiency in their factories. Besides, a more firm-centered theory may contribute to design better energy efficiency policies at the macro-level. These kind of approaches are scarce in previous extensive literature about energy efficiency and motivates this study based on the Motivation, Opportunity and Ability theory.

# 3. Research model and hypotheses development

In this chapter we first present the MOA theory on which we base the theoretical framework used in this study. We then define the independent, dependent and moderating variables used in this study. Next, we present the research model framework and the hypotheses that will be empirically tested. The last section is dedicated to the hypotheses development.

## 3.1. The Motivation, Opportunity and Ability theory

The Motivation, Opportunity and Ability (MOA) theory was first established by Blumberg and Pringle (1982) and finds its founding principles in both industrial and social psychology (e.g. Lawshe, 1945). The authors' aim was to understand job performance's drivers in a parsimonious manner, which could encompass the numerous antecedents for performance previously identified in literature, such as leadership, job satisfaction, or job attitudes, as well as the observations the authors made while studying coal mines workers. The MOA theory identifies three fundamental determinants in the performance of a given individual (an employee for example) or organization (a firm or a state), which are, precisely, the motivation, the opportunity and the ability of this individual or this organization. The more they are motivated, the more there are opportunities to perform, and the more they are capable, then the more they are likely to perform. This framework has been used in various fields of research, such as entrepreneurship (Davidsson, 1991), firm-level decision-making (Wu et al., 2004), marketing (Clark et al., 2005), behavior in information systems research (Hughes, 2007), or knowledge sharing (Siemsen et al., 2008).

The three components of the MOA framework are related constructs (Blumberg and Pringle, 1982). To illustrate this, let's think about a talented employee who has no

opportunity to perform, say, because of a stressful environment within the company. It's likely that our employee will not perform, however talented she may be. Therefore, the correlation between motivation, opportunity and ability may have to be tested in our study. However, it has been usually hard to confirm empirically this supposed complementarity (Terborg, 1977). As an example, Siemsen et al. (2008) have shown that the addition of two-way interactions terms between motivation, opportunity and ability does not improve much the fit a simple linear model that accounts for the direct effects only. In addition to the interaction between the three dimensions of the framework, performance in turn can also affect the levels of motivation, opportunity and ability by creating a positive feedback. For example, *evidence* of performance is likely to motivate employees to perform again, and *acted* performance is likely to increase their ability since they are more experienced.

To our knowledge, no study has emphasized the importance of performance measurement within the MOA framework, and how, in turn, these measures affect the direct effects of motivation, opportunity and ability on performance. Yet these questions have been widely addressed in business research. Folan et al. (2007) argue that the measured entities must be relevant to the given context, keeping in mind that the choice of energy indicators is always subjective since the whole spectrum that defines performance can't be totally captured. In their study, Hyland et al. (2007) break down the function of performance monitoring as follows: performance evaluation; determining suitable rewards; motivating desirable support for behavior; communicating expectations; identifying performance gaps; support for decision making; providing goals against which progress can be measured; providing data for seeking appropriate courses of action; providing data for planning strategic decision. This list suggests that performance monitoring as a variable should be exogenous to the MOA framework rather than incorporated into, for example, ability, since monitoring by itself has no direct impact on performance. Moreover the "Motivating desirable behavior" function in particular let us consider an interaction between performance measurement and the motivation variable of MOA theory.

#### 3.2. Definition of variables

Since the MOA framework is *meta-theory* (Gregor, 2006), which has enabled its application across various fields of study, its dimensions do have to be specified within the current context of research. Hence motivation, opportunity and ability have to be defined within the context of energy efficiency implementation.

Based on literature review and interviews conducted prior to this study with executives in the industrial sector in Singapore we first observe that the cost-saving potential of energy efficiency motivates industries to implement it. This source of motivation is especially high in the industrial sector since the energy costs represent a high share of the total production costs. Further, we identify two other sources of motivation: the Corporate Social Responsibility-driven motivation and the Legal compliance. The wish to implement energy efficiency may indeed arise from an industry's green corporate policy to embark on environment preservation practices. Alternatively, energy-related regulatory pressure exerted on industries represents should drive the implementation of energy efficiency projects. Ability wise, we distinguish firm's Know-what and Knowhow. Their impacts are discussed below in the hypotheses development. Eventually we observe that firm's Internal buy-in and Ease of implementation are two critical components of firm's Opportunity to embrace energy efficiency. These two important criteria determine whether of not the implementation of energy efficiency will be successful or not. The sub-dimensions of each construct and their definitions are summarized in the Table 3 below.

	MOA components	Definition	
	Cost-driven motivation	The extent to which energy costs reduction motivates efficient efficiency implementation.	
Motivation	Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) motivation	The firm's commitment in building a greater society.	
	Legal compliance	The extent to which law and regulation pressure motivates energy efficiency implementation.	
	Know-what	The extent of firm's understanding of energy efficiency-related matters.	
${f Ability}$	Know-how	The extent of firm's technical skills and proficiencies to implement energy efficiency.	
Ornerturitu	Internal buy-in	The extent of firm's commitment of production and quality departments for energy efficiency projects.	
Opportunity	Ease for energy efficiency implementation	The extent to which energy efficiency can be easily implemented.	

Table 3 - MOA components and definitions.

In addition to the M, O, A antecedents we label the dependent variable "energy efficiency outcomes" and define it by being the extent to which energy efficiency projects deliver. Eventually, we define the monitoring ability by being the extent of firm's ability to monitor the results of energy efficiency implementation at both physical and financial levels.

#### 3.3. Hypotheses development

#### 3.3.1. Direct effects of Motivation

Motivation is empirically well driven by the wish to reduce energy costs. If a company's energy costs represent a high proportion of its total costs the firm is likely to be more motivated to cut off them by reducing its overall energy consumption, that is, being more energy efficient (de Groot et al., 2001; Schleich and Gruber, 2008; Schleich, 2009). The rationale is that energy efficiency investments compete with other investments and even profitable energy efficiency investments may be discarded because some other investments appear to be more profitable (de Buck et al., 2010). Further, high energy cost share can also trigger top-management support for energy efficiency (Cooremans, 2011). On the other hand, if the firm's energy costs are not significant in its total costs, which are the case for the service sector for example, it is likely to be less concerned and motivated to reduce them. In other words, cost savings do not have a strong strategic relevance for the company. Further, energy costs are often the only cost component that can be reduced internally by the industry itself, unlike raw material costs for example, which call for negotiation with different external suppliers. These observations can be summed up in our first hypothesis:

H1: A company's energy efficiency initiatives outcomes increase with its motivation for energy costs savings.

But cost-motivation is not the only source of motivation. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) plays also an important role, as more and more industries are now committed to embark on environment preservation practices. Going further than simply complying with current legislation requirements, these industries adopt proactive, voluntary positions in order to alleviate their environmental impact. CSR itself is driven by a wide range of more fundamental sources of motivation, such as the mean to satisfy or increase customer's demand for green products, the wish to enhance

corporate reputation, the desire to build employee/leadership capabilities, or to differentiate from competitors (McKinsey & Co, 2008). Building a CSR typically involves transforming the management system, the operations system and the commercial system (Gonzalez-Benito et al., 2005). Some authors however - including Nobel price economist Milton Friedman - have questioned the idea of engaging in CSR for it may be inconsistent with the business's obligations of maximizing wealth for the firm's stockholders. Yet once an industry has decided to embark on such environmental practices, mitigating overall energy consumption, and, en route, embracing energy efficiency are on the agenda. de Groot et al. (2001) for instance have shown empirically that the green image of a company has a positive impact on energy efficiency efforts. Eventually we can hypothesize the following:

## H2: A company's energy efficiency initiatives outcomes increase with its motivation to be a socially responsible corporate.

Motivation can also find its sources outside the company. Energy-related regulatory pressure on firms – which began in the 1970s with the energy crisis – is also likely to make them implement energy efficiency through energy taxes, cap-and-trade systems, tax credits for efficient systems, product labeling, or direct regulatory limits on the energy consumption of products (Sachs, 2012). The National Academy of Sciences (2001) has shown that without the regulatory pressure on cars and light trucks in the USA (known as CAFE standards) and the tax on inefficient "gas guzzlers", the USA would have consumed an additional 2.8 million barrels of gasoline per day as of 2000. Minimum efficiency standards have been proven to be a very powerful tool to achieve energy efficiency, especially when they are regularly updated (Heller et al., 2006). As a striking example, in 2009 the United States saved more energy from refrigerators efficiency standards alone than they produced from wind and solar power together (Biello, 2009). These macro-level observations of the effects of legal compliance on energy efficiency efforts are arguably still valid at the firm level. Moreover, even though energy efficiency systems adoption may represent a high initial cost for an industry, this cost may be lower than the cumulative penalties or sanctions that the company has to pay if it does not abide by the law. Hence we can express hypothesis 3:

H3: A company's energy efficiency initiatives outcomes increase with its motivation for legal compliance.

#### 3.3.2. Direct effects of Ability

Based on knowledge management literature we distinguish in this study two forms of abilities, namely know-what and know-how, also referred to as declarative knowledge and procedural knowledge (Singley and Anderson, 1989). These two types of abilities are both important for the long term development of firms (Leonard Barthon, 1990) and differ in their nature. Know-what is facts, description, information, that is, in our case, a certain awareness of the benefits – in terms of energy savings for the company for example – to embrace energy efficiency. Know-how deals with how to be able to do something (Kogut and Zander, 1992), that is, in our case, how to technically implement energy efficiency, for example, how to set up new, efficient machinery and maintain it over time. Arguably, firms may have a high level of know-what but a level of know-how; the contrary, however, is not true. Many authors (e.g. Bohn, 1994) have argued that know-what allows better development or implementation (i.e. how-how). In other words, know-what works as a proxy for know-how.

Know-how is a different story. Embracing energy efficiency often implies the adoption of new, unfamiliar and complex technologies, which generally speaking require higher knowledge and skills for the company to be implemented (Dewar and Dutton, 1986). As a consequence, lack of qualified employees might hamper energy efficiency initiatives (e.g. Sardianou, 2008) and is regarded as a transaction cost for the firm. Big companies often have a technical staff dedicated to energy efficiency but they may also tap on knowledge from overseas experts to complement their intern expertise. On the other hand, as they have limited resources, SMEs are less likely to rely on intern

experts to help energy efficiency adoption, and may instead use external expertise, expressed through benchmarking or energy audits. Energy audits are indeed a crucial instrument to achieve energy savings since they evaluate the current energy consumption and point out the range of energy savings opportunities (Fleiter et al., 2012). They should lead to technical, concrete saving measures for the management, such as insulation of piping or leaking prevention. Further, energy audits enable industries to prioritize and rank the identified energy efficiency opportunities. Overall, energy audits help industries overcome the information gap (Palmer et al., 2013), which has been identified as a key energy barrier. For all these reasons, we can express the two following hypotheses:

H4: A company's energy efficiency know-how increases with the company's know-what.

H5: A company's energy efficiency initiatives outcomes increase with the company's know-how.

#### 3.3.3. Direct effects of Opportunity

A company's implementation of energy efficiency projects needs the close cooperation from its internal staff and, as many studies highlighted it, top-management support is often crucial. For example, strong resistances from production and quality departments, possibly due to fear of disruption to production and fear of risks to product quality respectively, could severely hinder the implementation of the energy efficiency projects. Resistance to change may also explain a lack of internal buy-in. Thus, companies with high internal buy-in should be able to achieve better energy efficiency initiative outcomes. We therefore hypothesize the following:

H6: A company's energy efficiency initiatives outcomes increase with the company's internal buy-in.

Implementing energy efficiency projects implies stopping the plant that often runs twenty-four/seven with few periodic maintenance shutdowns, which is problematic in most cases. The rationale for this is that stopping a continuous production line entails substantial technical risks (Thollander et al., 2008), especially if the energy efficiencyrelated operations are involved in the core production processes of the firm (Anderson and Newell, 2004; Dieperink et al., 2003). These risks in turn, are linked with the technical ease (in terms of time needed for example) to shut down the different machines in the plant. Physical constraints such as lack of space may also hinder the ease of implementation. Overall, easy-to-stop systems and absence of physical constraints enable a good ease of technical implementation, open up the window opportunity, which then acts as a driver for the firm's energy efficiency outcomes. Thus, we hypothesize the following:

H7: A company's energy efficiency initiatives outcomes increase with the ease of implementing the energy efficiency projects.

#### 3.3.4. Moderating effects of Monitoring Ability

Within the context of energy, performance measurement can be seen as a component of a broader concept known as *energy management*. John (2004) lists out some strategic energy management practices: collect data, fix efficiency targets, and communicate on-going energy performance to stakeholders in the company. Further, Backlund et al. (2012) argue that data gathering and analysis aid investments in energy efficient technology by providing information about energy flows and potential savings, as well as identify faulty machinery, optimize firm's energy system and energy performance. Reporting and monitoring are also key requisites in voluntary agreements (VA) to fix energy targets. Yet Rezessy et al. (2011) consider these requisites are the weakest points of VAs et suggest to rely on an independent third party to verify data and reports. These considerations show how crucial energy performance monitoring is when embracing energy efficiency. Yet to our knowledge very few energy-related

studies other than the aforementioned ones have examined its impact on energy efficiency implementation (one notable exception is Sivill et al., 2012). We attempt to do so by adding this variable in the MOA model.

Companies with a stronger monitoring ability are likely to have a better understanding of their energy assumption issues, and thus, are more prepared and motivated to engage in energy efficiency projects Monitoring ability would involve both low and high level sub-metering and a thorough evaluation of consumption trends over time. Otherwise, the industry will lack feedback on the effects of its energy efficient technology investments, with the consequence that energy consumption will be somewhat opaque (Hewett, 1998). Further, as Hyland et al. (2007) recall, one fundamental function of performance measurement is to "motivate desirable behavior". Thus, companies with strong monitoring ability may be more easily motivated to achieve their energy efficiency initiatives. Thus, the extent of a company's monitoring ability on energy efficiency may moderate the positive relationship between a company's certain motivations and its energy efficiency initiative outcomes. In the context of our model, cost-motivation appears to be the most relevant source of motivation that can interact with firm's monitoring ability. Indeed, proper CSR should be intrinsic source of motivation, whose intensity on the energy efficiency outcomes does not vary in presence of energy consumption results. Regulatory compliance should also not be affected by firm's monitoring ability, since law pressure comes from outside the firm's environment However, the presence of energy performance results may affect firm's cost-driven motivation, and, then the impact of the latter on the energy efficiency outcomes. That is, monitoring ability moderates the relationship between cost motivation and energy efficiency outcomes. We therefore hypothesize the following:

H8: The positive relationship between a company's cost-motivation and its energy efficiency initiative outcomes will be stronger if the company has a stronger monitoring ability.

#### 3.4. Research model

The hypotheses and the proposed research model are shown on Figure 2. This suggests than both firm's motivation (i.e. Cost motivation, CSR, and Legal compliance) and opportunity (i.e. Internal buy-in and Ease of implementation) can influence its energy efficiency outcomes. Firm's ability can also influence these outcomes through its knowhow, which is driven by itself by its know-what. Eventually, firm's Monitoring ability of its energy efficiency projects is hypothesized to moderate (doted line) the effect of cost motivation on the energy efficiency outcomes.



Figure 2 - Proposed research model.

## 4. Research methodology

#### 4.1. Data collection

Data collection started in 2010 and was part of the "Fifth Fuel Project", a large-scale study on energy efficiency in Singapore funded by the Energy Studies Institute. The survey data was collected by the NUS Management of Technology division as follows. First a mailing list was obtained from One Source, a commercial company that sells databases containing company contact information (available to NUS students/staff). A hardcopy survey (in color) was then post to Singapore's industrial companies by post. Finally, a Dillman's multiple-contact point system was adopted in the administration of the survey (Dillman et al. 2009):

- Week 1 pre-notice letters sent to the companies;
- Week 2 questionnaire, together with cover letter & pre-paid postage envelope sent to the companies;
- Week 4 the first reminder letter sent to the companies;
- Week 5 the second reminder letter sent to the companies;
- Week 6 follow-up calls made to randomly selected companies to urge a response in the case of non-response.

#### 4.2. Sample analysis

Survey questionnaires were sent out using the mailing list and no sampling was performed. The sectors that were not significantly represented because of a low number of responses or a low percentage response rate were discarded from the data set and were not used in further analysis. The remaining sectors after this selection process were SSIC 10, 20, 24-25, 26 and 28, where SSIC stands for Singapore Standard Industrial Classification 2010. 143 usable questionnaires have been received. The Table 4 below defines these sectors and presents their response rates.

	SSIC 10	SSIC 20	SSIC 24-25	SSIC 28	SSIC 26
	Manufacture of food	Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products	Manufacture of basic metals and fabricated metal products	Manufacture of machinery and equipment	Manufacture of computer, electronic and optical products
Total mailed	586	749	1010	1850	1032
Undelivered /unusable	217	442	592	728	537
Declined	11	53	63	104	72
Balance	358	254	355	1018	423
Usable	18	28	27	47	23
Overall response rate	5.03%	11.02%	7.61%	4.62%	5.44%
Total response			6.10%		
rate					

Table 4 - Non-response rate analysis.

The total response rate is in the low range. However, most of respondents were directors, general managers of CEOs (together they represent 57% of respondents), which adds credibility to the answers.

#### 4.3. Non-response bias

This low total response rate may also introduce some non-response bias, and this bias has to be tested since, as Armstrong says "if persons who respond differ substantially from those who not, the results do not allow to say how the entire sample would have responded" (Armstrong et al., 1977). We use a wave analysis technique to test the nonresponse bias, and compare the means of a given question across three groups: 1) firms which responded before the first reminder, 2) those which responded after the first and second reminders, and 3) those which responded late. This mean comparison was performed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in SPSS 21.0, which computes a F-test, F being the ratio between the mean square within groups and the mean square between groups. We test the null hypothesis that all means are equal across the groups against the alternative hypothesis that at least two means differ from each other. The satisfaction with firm's energy efficiency efforts was used to compute the means. The results are given in Table 5.

Table 5 - Non-response bias test.

	Sum of squares	dof	Mean square	F	p-value
Between groups	3.046	2	1.523	.554	.576
Within groups	332.632	141	2.749		
Total	335.677	143			

For a protection level alpha = .05, and the p-value being .576, we fail to reject the null hypothesis that all means are equal across the three groups, that is, there is no evidence of difference among the different respondents' answers. These analysis shows that there is little or no bias in the responses.

Data analysis was performed using Partial Least Squares (PLS), in SmartPLS 3.0. PLS is a structural equation modeling technique that uses a principal-component-based estimation approach (Chin, 1998), which has the following benefits: 1) it does not suffer from indeterminacy problems like other causal modeling techniques using a covariance-based approach; 2) it is a nonparametric technique and, therefore, does not assume normality of the data; 3) it does not require as large a sample size as other causal modeling techniques; and 4) it can be used to estimate models that use both formative and reflective indicators. Because our sample size of 143 respondents is relatively small and because the proposed model includes both formative and reflective indicators, a PLS-approach is suitable for our study.

Sample size requirements for PLS stipulate that there should be at least 10

respondents per predictor in the most complicated regression of the model. Since our dependent variable has 7 predictors, a sample size of 70 is adequate. Our sample size satisfies this condition (143 > 70).

#### 4.4. Construct operationalization

Our model consists of both formative and reflective constructs. Proper model specification is essential since it can induce Type I and Type II errors (Petter et al., 2007). Items of formative construct refer to items that top in different concepts, each item contributing to a specific dimension of the construct,. Reflective constructs on the other hand are made by items originated and affected by the same concept (Jarvis et al., 2003). The items of reflective constructs are parallel, and should covary. In our study, Cost motivation, Legal compliance, Know-how and Ease of implementation are formative, while the remaining constructs are deemed reflective. Items measuring constructs are based on both extensive literature review and interviews conducted by the NUS Management of Technology division with Singapore industries. The items are shown in Table 6.

Cost motivation is operationalized by three formative items based on interviews.

*CSR*. Items measuring the CSR are based on interviews with the local Singapore firms, and the study of Benito 2005, and are affected by the same environmental concept. CSR is therefore deemed reflective.

Legal compliance is operationalized based on the interviews, and the items designed each contribute to a specific dimension of the construct, including the legal infrastructure and the severity of the penalties. These dimensions are not interchangeable. Therefore, this Regulatory Compliance should be formative construct.

The Know-what items are based on interviews and Singapore industry energy data,

and all originate from the same knowledge/awareness about the energy efficiency and address the same dimension of the construct. Thus, Know-what is a reflective construct.

The *Know-how* is measured by items adapted from Luken, Rompaey and Zigova 2008 & Kammerer 2009. Since these items top in different concepts (e.g., internal technical capability and external expert connection), the Know-how construct is deemed formative.

*Monitoring ability.* The operationalization of Monitoring Ability was based on interviews and Energy Efficiency Survey Project, International Finance Corporation, World Bank group, 2010. The items share the same common core, and are all related to the objective monitoring of both physical and financial characteristics of energy consumption. Monitoring ability therefor is a reflective construct.

*Internal buy-in.* Both items of internal buy-in address the departmental acceptance of energy efficiency. If there is any change in the overall internal buy-in of a company, this change will affect energy efficiency acceptance of both the production and quality departments. Therefore, internal buy-in should be a reflective item.

*Ease of implementation.* The two items measuring the ease of the energy efficiency implementation address two different challenges: the easiness to stop the current production & the physical constrains faced by the company. As the items contribute to different dimensions of ease of energy efficiency implementation, the ease of implementation is a formative construct.

The items of *Energy efficiency initiatives outcomes* share the same common core: the proper implementation of the energy efficiency projects. Any proper energy efficiency project of a company must be on schedule, within budget, and generate satisfactory outcome. Therefore, all the items are expected to covary. For example, the overdue of

a project often involves additional expenses, which in turn reduces the overall satisfaction of the project. Thus, the energy efficiency initiatives outcomes is a reflective construct.

Construct	Items	Sources
Cost motivation	CM1: Reducing energy cost can lower my company's overall production cost substantially.	From interviews
	CM2: My company implements energy efficiency practices and technologies so as to reduce energy costs.	Gonzalez-Benito 2005
	CM3: Energy efficiency implementations tend to increase our costs of business due to costlier processes and materials and more	From interviews
	compliance.	
CSR	CSR1: My company is concerned and cares about the environment.	From interviews
	CSR2: My company is committed to reducing our impact on natural environment, even if this entails lower productivity and	Gonzalez-Benito 2005
	higher operating costs.	
	CSR3: My top management views environmental issues seriously.	From interviews
Legal	RC1: There is NO comprehensive set of law and regulations on energy management by the national authorities (reverse)	From interviews
compliance	RC2: There is a strong penalty by national regulators if we do not adhere to rules and regulations of energy consumption.	From interviews
Know-what	KW1: My company is aware of the opportunities improvement for energy efficiency.	From interviews and Singapore industry energy
	KW2: My company understands energy costs well as we have data.	data (Singapore Economic Development Board)
	KW3: My company knows the best practices and technologies to reduce energy consumption for our processes.	
Know-how	KH1: The engineers and technicians in my company have the technical knowledge to implement energy efficiency practices and	Kammerer 2009
	adopt energy efficient technologies.	
	KH2: My company can easily access external experts who can help us in conducting energy audits and implementing energy	Luken, Rompaey and Zigova 2008
	efficiency improvements.	
	KH3: My company knows exactly who to approach to learn about energy efficiency improvements.	Luken, Rompaey and Zigova 2008
Monitoring	MA1: In my company, energy savings from projects can be verified objectively.	From interviews
ability	MA9. My commany usas an automated metering & control system (real-time) to track energy consumption	Energy Efficiency Survey Project, International
	mondumental assessment of the transment income and a commence of the transment of the transmentation of the tr	Finance Corporation,World Bank group, 2010
	MA3: Energy savings from energy efficiency projects is monitored quantitatively in financial and physical units.	From interviews
Internal buy-in	[B1: My company's production department resists energy efficiency improvement projects for fear of disruption to production	Murillo-Luna, Garces-Ayerbe and Rivera-Torres
	and delivery schedule.	2011
	IB2: My company's quality department resists energy efficiency improvement projects for fear of risks to product and process	Murillo-Luna, Garces-Ayerbe and Rivera-Torres
	quality.	2011
Ease of	E11: In my company, production can be stopped easily in order to carry out energy efficiency improvement activities (e.g.	Murillo-Luna, Garces-Ayerbe and Rivera-Torres
implementation	upgrading of electric motors).	2011
	E12: My company faces physical constraints (e.g. lack of space) to implement energy efficiency improvements. (reverse)	From interviews
$\mathbf{Energy}$	EE1: Overall, our energy efficiency projects are on schedule.	From interviews
efficiency	EE2: Overall, our energy efficiency projects are within budget.	From interviews
initiatives	EE3: The outcomes of our energy efficiency projects meet our expectations.	From interviews
outcomes	EE4: Overall we are satisfied with the returns of our energy efficiency projects.	From interviews

Table 6 - Constructs and items.

4. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

## 5. Data analysis and results

In this section we first test the effects of industrial sectors and firms' size on the dependent variable. Then we check the reliability of the measurement model, the common method bias. Eventually we present the results of the structural model.

#### 5.1. Sector invariance

We first control for the industry sector by performing an ANOVA in SPSS. We examine whether or not respondents' answers vary across the industrial sectors that are represented in our sample. We look at all items that measure the energy efficiency outcomes (EE1 to EE4). The results are shown in Table 7 below.

		Sum of	ીદ	Mean	F	C:m
		Squares	ai	Square	Г	Sig.
	Between Groups	9,035	4	2,259	0,808	0,523
EE1	Within Groups	$310,\!275$	111	2,795		
	Total	319,31	115			
	Between Groups	$13,\!869$	4	$3,\!467$	$1,\!27$	0,286
EE2	Within Groups	$303,\!165$	111	2,731		
	Total	317,034	115			
	Between Groups	$11,\!521$	4	2,88	1,028	0,396
EE3	Within Groups	$311,\!031$	111	2,802		
	Total	$322,\!552$	115			
	Between Groups	17,733	4	4,433	1,617	$0,\!175$
EE4	Within Groups	307,036	112	2,741		
	Total	324,769	116			

Table 7 - ANOVA for sector invariance.

All p-values being above the protection level alpha = .05, we fail to reject the null hypothesis that all means are equal among sectors. In other words, there is no significant difference in respondents' answers between industrial sectors. One

interpretation of this result is that industries in Singapore represent a very homogeneous sample in which industries have similar practices, in particular in the domain of energy efficiency. Liu et al (2013) find a comparable invariance in their study, and argue that this could be due to the small geographic area where the survey was conducted. In such a limited area, respondents tend to have similar levels of energy savings, regardless of their industrial sector.

#### 5.2. Firm's size invariance

The following histogram shows the repartition of firms' size in our sample. It is strongly left-skewed towards industries with less than 50 employees. This is desirable since a more even repartition in our sample allows us to examine it as a whole. In other words, the consistency of the distribution adds credibility to our analysis. We also perform an ANOVA to test whether firms' sizes explain differences in the answers. Again, all items measuring the energy efficiency outcomes are used in the analysis. The results are shown in Table 8.



		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Between Groups	10,103	7	1,443	0,481	0,846
EE1	Within Groups	350,729	117	2,998		
	Total	360,832	124			
	Between Groups	$15,\!031$	7	$2,\!147$	0,724	$0,\!652$
EE2	Within Groups	347,097	117	$2,\!967$		
	Total	362,128	124			
	Between Groups	3,894	7	$0,\!556$	$0,\!188$	0,988
EE3	Within Groups	346,794	117	2,964		
	Total	350,688	124			
	Between Groups	$9,\!359$	7	$1,\!337$	$0,\!455$	$0,\!865$
EE4	Within Groups	346,799	118	$2,\!939$		
	Total	$356,\!159$	125			

Table 8 - ANOVA for firms' size invariance.

T

Again, all p-values are above the protection level alpha = .05. Hence we fail to reject the null hypothesis that all means are equal among firms' size groups. That is, we show the invariance in respondents' answers among groups of firms' size. One the one hand, this invariance further strengthens the homogeneity of our sample in terms of firms' size. One interpretation is that the strongly left-skewed distribution shown in Figure 3 may not have enough variance to produce significant differences across different industry sizes. Arguably, more larger firms in our sample would have made the ANOVA results significant but would also have compromised the homogeneity of our sample, which is not desirable. In that case, indeed, it would not have been possible to treat our sample as a whole. One the other hand, such an invariance contrasts with some studies (e.g. Aramyan et al., 2007; Hofer et al., 2012; Schleich, 2009) – but not all (Fleiter et al., 2012) – that tend to show that bigger companies are more likely to better implement energy efficiency. Likely though, industry size effects are partially captured by some of the other variables. As an example, big companies tend to have more technical personnel to implement energy efficiency projects, that is, they should have a better Know-how.

## 5.3. Test of measurement model and common method bias

In order to assess to validity of the measurement model we examine reliability, convergent validity, and discriminant validity of the items, keeping in mind that formative and reflective items need to be treated differently as explained in what follows (Petter et al., 2007).

Regarding the reflective items, we examine the reliability by computing at Cronbach's alphas coefficients. All constructs show satisfactory scores, exceeding the threshold of 0.70 (see Table 11). We then test the convergent validity by looking at items loadings, composite reliability (CR), as well as average variance extracted (AVE) for each latent variable (see Table 11). All constructs show adequate item loadings (> 0.70), CRs (>0.70), and AVEs (> 0.50). This indicates sufficient convergent validity. We further assessed discriminant validity by performing an explanatory factor analysis in SPSS 21.0 (in which the number of extracted factors is fixed to 5), and a comparison of the constructs correlations and the square roots of their AVEs. Factor analysis shows that all items are loading significantly on their intended constructs (see Table 9) and construct correlations are lower than their respective AVEs' square roots, confirming satisfactory discriminant validity (see Table 10). To test whether there is any multicolinearity issue we compute the variable inflation factor (VIF) using the factors scores provided by the SmartPLS for a linear regression in SPSS. The VIFs are in the range 1.035 and 2.147, far below the stringent 3.3 cut-off value for multicolinearity issues.

In the case of formative measures, instead of examining the factor loadings, we examine factor weights (see Table 12) – which represent a canonical correlation analysis and provide information about how each indicator contributes to the respective construct (Mathwick et al., 2001). Formative items' weights are usually smaller than reflective items' loadings. The PLS method optimizes the items' weights

to maximize the explained variance of the dependent variables in the model. Hence, a formative construct's rather small absolute weights do not mean a poor measurement model (Chin, 1998). If these weights are not significant, they may be considered for elimination, keeping in mind that the remaining items still should cover all aspects of the construct domain (MacKenzie et al., 2011). Multicollinearity among the items is a concern with formative measures (Mathwick et al., 2001), since it can produce unstable estimates. If there is evidence of multicollinearity, the problematic, non-significant items should be discarded. Hence, we performed a collinearity test by regressing the formative factors' scores against the dependent variable; the results showed minimal multicollinearity, the VIFs of all items being far below the stringent 3.3 cut-off value again. Hence, we do not discard the formative items that are not significant.

Before examining the structural model we compute a Harman procedure to test if there is any evidence of common method bias in our data set. We perform a factor analysis in SPSS for all reflective constructs and fix the number of components extracted to one. If this component explains the majority of the total variance, this suggests a presence of common method bias. The test shows that the extracted component explains 46% of the variance, which shows that there is no or little common bias in the sample.

Constructs and items	$\mathbf{CSR}$	$\mathbf{KW}$	$\mathbf{M}\mathbf{A}$	$\mathbf{IB}$	$\mathbf{EE}$
CSR motivation (CSR)					
CSR1	0,877	0,169	-0,044	-0,084	$0,\!172$
CSR2	0,712	$0,\!117$	0,330	0,120	$0,\!084$
CSR3	0,803	$0,\!354$	0,110	-0,037	0,206
Know-what (KW)					
KW1	0,331	0,786	$0,\!186$	0,144	$0,\!205$
KW2	0,130	$0,\!855$	$0,\!176$	0,007	$0,\!286$
KW3	0,316	0,728	$0,\!305$	$0,\!052$	0,288
Monitoring ability (MA)					
MA1	0,054	0,061	0,869	0,019	$0,\!203$
MA2	0,181	0,324	0,732	$0,\!077$	$0,\!378$
MA3	0,164	0,386	0,721	0,027	0,217
Internal buy-in (IB)					
IB1	0,006	$0,\!065$	0,016	$0,\!942$	$0,\!130$
IB2	-0,013	0,050	0,058	0,948	-0,006
Energy efficiency initiatives					
outcomes (EE)					
EE1	0,181	$0,\!223$	$0,\!278$	$0,\!012$	0,846
EE2	0,084	0,213	$0,\!168$	0,082	0,906
EE3	$0,\!159$	$0,\!221$	$0,\!150$	$0,\!072$	0,916
EE4	0,166	0,163	0,222	0,032	0,900
Variance (%)	11.2	12.5	8.40	5.89	46.3
(without rotation)					

Table 9 – Factor analysis (rotated matrix).

Table 10 – Construct correlations versus square root of AVE.

	$\mathbf{EE}$	$\mathbf{CSR}$	$\mathbf{M}\mathbf{A}$	IB
EE	0.952			
$\mathbf{CSR}$	0.408	0.863		
MA	0.573	0.419	0.876	
IB	0.157	0.037	0.137	0.943

Constructs	Item	Loading*	t-value
CSR motivation (CSR)	CSR1	0.876	20.362
$\alpha = 0.812 \ ; \mathrm{CR} = 0.889 \ ; \mathrm{AVE} = 0.730$	CSR2	0.790	13.779
	CSR3	0.919	53.187
Know-what (KW)	KW1	0.908	46.341
$\alpha = 0.891 \ ; \mathrm{CR} = 0.932 \ ; \mathrm{AVE} = 0.821$	KW2	0.893	36.090
	KW3	0.917	56.928
Monitoring ability (MA)	MA1	0.819	15.282
$\alpha = 0.849 \ ; \mathrm{CR} = 0.908 \ ; \mathrm{AVE} = 0.768$	MA2	0.932	88.541
	MA3	0.874	25.560
Internal buy-in (IB)	IB1	0.987	5.338
$\alpha = 0.896$ ; CR = 0.941; AVE = 0.889	IB2	0.897	5.093
Energy efficiency initiatives outcomes	EE1	0.939	62.136
(EE)	EE2	0.949	78.886
$\alpha = 0.965 \ ; \mathrm{CR} = 0.975 \ ; \mathrm{AVE} = 0.906$	EE3	0.968	135.919
	EE4	0.951	76.762

Table 11 – Item loadings of reflective constructs.

\*All item loadings are significant at p<0.001

 $\alpha = {\rm Cronbach's}$ alpha; CR = Composite Reliability; AVE = Average Variance Extracted

Constructs	Item	Weight	t-value
Cost motivation (CM)	CM1	0.209	1.231
	CM2	0.840***	7.240
	CM3	$0.284^{*}$	2.315
Legal compliance (LC)	RC1	- 0.567	0.869
	RC2	0.977	1.426
Know-how (KH)	KH1	0.889***	5.644
	KH2	0.129	0.837
	KH3	0.068	0.418
Ease of implementation (EI)	EI1	0.988**	3.062
	EI2	0.101	0.231

Table 12 – Item weights of formative constructs.

 $^{\ast}$  Item significant at p<0.05

\*\* Item significant at p<0.01

\*\*\* Item significant at p<0.001

#### 5.4. Test of structural model

Testing interaction effects in a formative model requires caution. As Chin explains "since formative items are not assumed to reflect the same underlying construct (i.e., can be independent of one another and measuring different factors), the product indicators between two sets of formative indicators will not necessarily tap into the same underlying interaction effect" (Chin et al. 2003, Appendix D). Hence, instead of computing pair-wise items products in PLS and looking at the significance of the paths of the product terms, we use a two-step procedure suggested by Chin et al. (2003). First the direct effects of the independent variable on the dependent variable are tested in SmartPLS, using a case-wise elimination for missing values. Then the corresponding factors scores are saved and used for to build the interaction terms by multiplying the scores pair-wise. Eventually the interaction terms and the factor scores serve as independent variables in a multiple linear regression against the dependent variable. During this process, all items need to be standardized (or centered) for an adequate interpretation of the interaction terms (Chin et al. 2003). The results are shown in the Table 13 below.

	Path		
Without interaction effects	coef.	t-value	Result
Dependent variable: EE			
$({ m R_1}^2=.454)$			
Cost motivation (CM)	.325***	3.473	Significant
CSR motivation ( $CSR$ )	.016	.179	Not significant
Ease of implementation (EI)	.009	.127	Not significant
Internal buy-in (IB)	.056	.577	Not significant
Know-how (KH)	.211*	2.146	Significant
Monitoring ability (MA)	.254**	2.718	Significant
Legal compliance (LC)	056	.675	Not significant
Dependent variable: KH			
$(\mathrm{R}^2=.448$ )			
Know-what (KW)	.669***	12.735	Significant
	$\mathbf{Path}$		
With interaction effects	coef.	t-value	Result
Dependent variable: EE			
$({ m R_2}^2=.473)$			
$\operatorname{CM}$	.369***	3.746	H1 supported
CSR	019	203	H2 not supported
EI	.004	.051	H7 not supported
IB	.051	.713	H6 not supported
KH	.239**	2.451	H5 supported
MA	.215*	2.133	Not hypothesized
LC	021	268	H3 supported
CM.MA	.149*	2.021	H8 supported
* TU · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
* Item significant at $p < 0.05$			

#### Table 13 - Results of structural model.

\*\*\* Item significant at p<0.001

#### 5.5. Results

#### 5.5.1. Direct effects model

Cost motivation (t = 3.47, p < 0.001) and Know-how (t = 2.15, p < 0.05) have both a significant effect on energy efficiency outcomes. Know-what works as a significant proxy for Know-how (t = 12.73, p < 0.001). We also test the direct effect of Monitoring ability on the dependent variable before adding the interaction term in the second model as it is required when examining moderation effects. Surprisingly, Monitoring ability is found to be significatively and positively correlated with energy efficiency outcomes (t = 2.72, p < 0.005). This observation is discussed later on.

#### 5.5.2. Interaction model

The moderating term (Cost motivation x Monitoring ability) is then added to build the interaction model. The significant effects in the previous model are still significant in the interaction model: Cost motivation (t = 3.75, p < 0.001) and Know-how (t = 2.45, p < 0.005) have both a positive impact on energy efficiency outcomes. The correlation between the moderator Monitoring ability and the dependent variable remains also significant in the second model (t = 2.13, p < 0.05). Moreover, the moderating term is found to be significant (t = 2.02, p < 0.05). Recall that "a significant interaction term X.Z indicates that the effect of X on Y differs across the range of the moderator variable Z' (Dawson and Richter, 2006, p. 917). In other words, a high Monitoring ability reinforces the effect of Cost motivation on energy efficiency outcomes. According to the directives of Cohen and Cohen (1983) we plot the dependent variable for two levels of moderator and two levels of Cost motivation (see Figure 4 below).



Figure 4 - Moderation effect of Monitoring ability.

Overall, hypotheses *H1*, *H4*, *H5* and *H8* are supported. This is represented in Figure 5 below. The interaction model improves the overall fit ( $R_2^2 = .473$ ) compared to the direct effects model ( $R_1^2 = .454$ ). This improvement can be quantified by computing the effect size  $f^2 = (R_2^{2-}R_1^2)/R_1^2$  (Handbook of Partial Least Squares, 2010). The effect size here is  $f^2 = .0419$  which indicates a small to medium effect (Cohen, 1998).



Figure 5 - Supported hypotheses

## 6. Discussion and Conclusion

In this section we first summarize and discuss the research findings corresponding to the hypotheses we proposed in Chapter 3. We give possible interpretations to these findings and to why certain hypotheses are not supported in our context. Then after we detail the implications of our results for energy-related research. Eventually we discuss the limits and the future work of our study.

#### 6.1. Discussion

Cost motivation has the highest impact (standard path coefficient = 0.37 in the interaction model) on energy efficiency outcomes. This can be interpreted as a consequence of the firm's bottom-line to increase its profits by cutting down its operation costs. As explained in the hypotheses development section, energy costs often represent of non negligible part of an industry's costs. In Singapore especially, high energy prices are likely to further strengthen firm's wish to lower its operating costs. The relation between energy prices and savings has been reported by several authors (Boonekamp, 2011; IEA, 1997; De Buck et al., 2010), which reinforces our intuition. Further, energy-related costs can be effectively reduced internally, unlike costs of raw materials, logistics or marketing that are often intertwined with external factors that are beyond firm's control. Therefore, our results confirm that energy efficiency projects that have a substantial reducing effect on energy costs are more attractive to firms, in comparison to those projects that offer no significant advantages on energy costs. Overall, this finding supports the results by de Groot et al. (2001), Hasanbeigi et al. (2010), Schleich and Gruber (2008), Schleich (2009) and Velthuijsen (1995). Overall we suspect than the effect of Cost motivation on energy efficiency outcomes will strengthen over the years as resource prices are expected to rise in coming years (Berger, 2009).

The second largest effect on energy efficiency outcomes is driven by firm's Know-how (standard path coefficient = 0.239 in the second model). When reversed, this result confirms that the lack of qualified personnel is a serious energy barrier, as several studies have shown it (e.g. Prindle, 2010). Such a barrier can be seen as a transaction cost for the industry. Whatever the path taken by an industry to implement energy efficiency (evaluation of energy wastes, optimization of heating and cooling processes or adoption of new technology), all these processes call for certain skills and competencies. As argued in the hypotheses development, embracing energy efficiency often implies the adoption of new, unfamiliar and complex technologies, which generally speaking require higher knowledge and skills for the industry to be implemented (Dewar and Dutton, 1986). The level of this knowledge is even more critical when changes affect the core processes of the industry (Anderson and Newell, 2004; Dieperink et al., 2003). Our results confirm these considerations, and stress out the importance of Know-how when implementing energy efficiency projects. Further, these significant results reinforce the importance of energy audits that are captured in the measurement model for the Know-how variable. Overall, these audits are a good way to overcome imperfect information barriers. Further, and as a complementary finding, the quality of energy audits (in terms of satisfaction with audits) is also found to be significant in Fleiter et al. (2012).

One other remarkable result is that Monitoring ability moderates the effect of Cost motivation on energy efficiency outcomes. Recall that Monitoring ability is the extent of firm's ability to monitor the results of energy efficiency implementation at both physical and financial levels. This is an important factor that has been neglected both in MOA-based studies and to some extent in energy efficiency academics. The significant moderation effect of this variable shows that a strong ability to precisely show and demonstrate the benefits of energy efficiency investments in terms of energy savings further intensify firm's motivation to cut down costs and, in the end, the extent to which energy efficiency projects deliver. As a contrasting example, lack of monitoring abilities makes the identification of faulty, energy-intensive machinery almost impossible. As a result, motivation to embrace energy efficiency remains low, especially when the machinery can still perform its task. One typical attitude that illustrates this phenomena is: "if the machine works why change it?" – which is also related to the resistance to change and the fear of disruption. In this case, lack of monitoring capabilities hides the fact that this functional machine consumes lots of energy, which in turn does not encourage any replacement. Besides, one interpretation of this moderation effect is that as long as industries can see financial benefits from energy efficiency projects, they are likely to carry on their energy savings efforts. Bunse et al. (2011) give some key needs for proper energy monitoring system. These needs include, among other things, "More integration with systems using real-time data for operational monitoring and facilitating strategic decisions regarding energy efficiency", "Production line performance system to monitor energy consumption" or "Sensor technology for monitoring and transmitting production asset energy performance".

As mentioned in the results section (5.5.), Monitoring ability is itself significatively correlated with the extent to which energy efficiency projects deliver, which is something we have not hypothesized since a causal link between the two phenomena seems rather unlikely. In other words, setting up a sophisticated energy monitoring system cannot by itself lead to energy savings, which are rather driven by all the subdimensions of motivation, ability and opportunity. Yet this setup is likely to motivate an industry to embrace energy efficiency as discussed above. One possible way to interpret this correlation though is to notice that high capabilities to monitor the results of energy efficiency projects correspond to industries that have achieved a certain level of energy efficiency. Indeed, at the first stages of energy efficiency implementation, priority is to buy new energy-efficient equipment, hire competent personnel to install these machines, and so on. Tracking the results of such efforts then come next on the agenda. Therefore, firm's Monitoring ability can be seen as a good indicator of its level of energy efficiency implementation. If it is low, it is likely to be at the early stage of energy efficiency adoption. If it is high, the industry is likely to have already implemented some energy efficiency projects.

If our study shows than industries themselves can greatly benefit from an efficient monitoring system, it is also likely than the adoption of such systems will be fostered by policy-makers and governments in the future. Indeed, micro-level energy data provided by firms is a prerequisite for building macro-level indicators that are more available, precise and comparable across countries. In turn, these "energy indicators can play an important role in supporting energy efficiency policy development and evaluation" (IEA, 2008, p. 10). Designing these indicators presents some challenges. In non-IEA countries for example, 'little or no detailed data [is] available for most countries" (IEA, 2008, p. 76), which makes the need for a proper monitoring system even more critical. As a response, some of these countries take part into programs that help them develop new energy indicators. The IEA, for instance, together with the World Bank, is aiding organizations in Mexico, China and South Africa design these indicators. Further, energy performance measurement and monitoring at operating levels are only now early-stage concepts (Sivill et al., 2013). The availability of data is not the only concern. Some other obstacles, like confidentiality of the data provided by firms or anti-trust legislation also make the aggregation of micro-level energy data problematic.

The supported hypotheses provide us with some key insights when an industry embarks on energy efficiency. Yet some hypotheses remain not validated.

First, Legal compliance is found to have no effect on energy efficiency outcomes. This surprising result can be observed in other studies. One very relevant example is found in Liu et al. (2013), in which the "regulative pressure" does not drive the "total energy savings activities" despite the high "regulative pressure" perceived by the respondents. As mentioned in the Literature Review, this example shows how much great care researchers should take in making conclusions about barriers that have a high score – that is, a barrier that is perceived to be present by most respondents: highly-scored barriers may well not have any statistical effect on energy efficiency outcomes. In the context of our research the absence of effect of Regulatory compliance suggests that

older laws regulating energy efficiency at the time of the survey were not sufficient to affect firm's motivation to embrace energy efficiency. Although the respondents may represent Singaporean energy-intensive firms, the questionnaires were sent out two years before Singapore energy efficiency related laws like the Energy Conservation Act which introduces minimum energy management standards for large energy users (more than 15 GWh per year) from fiscal year 2013. As a consequence, the effectiveness of this mandatory policy in enhancing energy saving practices of companies could not be observed in this survey. Keeping track on behavioral changes of industries on energy efficiency in response to the implementation of related policies would be useful for understanding the appropriate and effective policy direction.

Contrary to hypotheses, CSR is also deemed to have no serious effect on firm's energy efficiency outcomes. One interpretation of this result is that this absence of effect is somehow related to the non-effect of Legal compliance discussed above. Indeed, firm's CSR policy can be seen as a way to anticipate future energy-related laws. If law pressure exerted on industries remains low, then adopting a proactive position in terms of environment preservation may not be a priority. In other words, Legal compliance can be seen as an antecedent for firm's extrinsic CSR. When law pressure is low, firm's CSR is mostly intrinsic.

Eventually the Opportunity variables, namely Internal buy-in and Ease of implementation, are found to be not contingent upon energy efficiency outcomes as hypothesized. In other words, the overall Opportunity does not explain the extent to which energy efficiency projects deliver in our research context. This result deviates from previous findings on barriers such as risk of disruption and resistance to change that are in essence captured in the items measuring Opportunity sub-dimensions. The Opportunity dimension also reflects transaction costs issues, such as the time needed to implement the energy efficiency decision. This absence of effect can be interpreted as the proactive attitude of Singapore industries when a decision is taken. Further, this result can be imputed to the small size of our industries sample. In SMEs, the hierarchical ladder is somehow both shorter and narrower than in big companies, which tightens top-management executives and operators together. In such organizations, top-management executives are even more influential in the decisionmaking process; decisions flow more rapidly in the company, which gives more opportunity to implement them. These ideas are confirmed by Velthuijsen (1995), who shows that larger companies face slow decision-making processes, which in turn delays the adoption of energy efficiency projects.

#### 6.2. Implications to research

This study makes four major contributions to the existing literature.

First, we attempt to use test a novel framework on energy efficiency-related issues. Arguably, the understanding of energy efficiency adoption does benefit from alternative theories to mainstream economics which constitute the theoretical base for the energy barriers concept. Indeed, neo-classical economics usually treat firms as "black boxes" in which managerial realities are hardly taken into account. As Stiglitz (1991, p. 15) recalls, "if economists wish to understand how resources are allocated, we must understand what goes on inside organizations". The variables used in our framework, namely, Motivation, Opportunity, and Ability, illustrate our willingness to penetrate these "black boxes".

Second, we refine the traditional MOA theory by adding an external moderator, namely the Monitoring ability. Future MOA-based studies can greatly benefit from testing the effects of a performance tracking variable on their research questions. This performance measurement variable has to be specified within the particular context of research. In the case of energy efficiency, we see two major areas that are relevant to build the construct: energy metering or energy savings tracking and financial monitoring. Our findings suggest that, albeit different in their nature a priori, both dimensions are merged into a same variable by respondents – see factor analysis – and

that this variable has important effects on energy efficiency outcomes by moderating firm's Cost motivation.

Third, our study mainly focuses on the effects of barriers on energy efficiency outcomes rather than identifying them. Energy barriers are now a well-established concept and there are now numerous studies that attempt to discuss their presence in a specific context. Less though try to investigate about the other side of the energy barriers coin, that is, do the identified barriers really affect energy efficiency outcomes? As a result, this question remains unclear. Researchers should now mainly focus on links between barriers and energy efficiency, or even between barriers or groups of barriers (e.g. Chai et al., 2012). Again, we should emphasize that a barrier that is perceived to be important by respondents is not necessarily deemed to affect energy efficiency efforts. Energy barriers theory argue so, but empirical evidence is still required to prove it. Generally speaking, we believe that more empirical studies should be beneficial for the understanding of energy efficiency-related matters. As Trianni and Cagno (2012) observe, there is indeed a "huge" amount of theoretical contributions on barriers in academics. Empirical investigations are scarce, though. Ultimately such studies would help better energy policy making.

#### 6.3. Limits and future work

Our study has several shortcomings. First, we rely on subjective answers of respondents to evaluate their perceptions of energy efficiency matters within their industry. Second, this study would have benefited from a broader spectrum of industry sectors and industry sizes since this would have had more generalizability to our findings. Eventually, we believe that collecting panel data would worth the effort for the understanding of energy efficiency issues. Among others things, such an approach would be extremely beneficial to track the causal relationships between energy efficiency efforts and its determinants over time.

### References

Anderson, S.T. and Newell, R.G., 2004. Information Programs for Technology Adoption: The Case of Energy-efficiency Audits. Resource and Energy Economics 26 (1), 27-50.

Aramyan, L.H., Lansink, A.G.J.M., Verstegen, J.A.A.M., 2007. Factors underlying the investment decision in energy-savings systems in Dutch horticulture. Agricultural Systems 94 (2), 520-527.

Akerlof, G.A., 1970. The market of "lemons": quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 84 (3), 488-500.

- Armstrong, J.S., Overton, T.S., 1977. Estimating Nonresponse Bias in Mail Surveys. Journal of Marketing Research 14, 396-402.
- Backlund, S., Thollander, P., Palm, J., Ottosson, M., 2012. Extending the energy efficiency gap. Energy Policy 51, 392-396.
- Berger, R., 2009. Greentech Industries: Wachstumsmotor der Zukunft. Summernight Symposium, Vienna, Austria. http://www.rolandberger.at/media/pdf/Roland\_Berger\_SumSy09\_Berger\_2009 0622.pdf.
- Biello, D., 2009. U.S. Unveils a \$350-Million Energy-Efficiency Initiative at Copenhagen. http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/solar-lanternslight-chu/
- Blumberg, M., Pringle, C.D., 1982. The Missing Opportunity in Organizational Research: Some Implications for a Theory of Work Performance. The Academy of Management Review 4, 560-569.

Bohn, R., 1994. Measuring and managing technological knowledge, Sloan Management Review, Fall, 61-73.

- Boonekamp, P.G.M., 2011. How much will the energy services directive contribute to EU energy and emissions goal? Energy Efficiency 4 (2), 285–301.
- Bunse, K., Vodicka, M., Schönsleben, P., Brülhart, M., Ernst, F.O., 2011. Integrating energy efficiency performance in production management - gap analysis between industrial needs and scientific literature. Journal of Cleaner Production 19, 667-679.

- Chai, K.-H., Yeo, C., 2012. Overcoming energy efficiency barriers through systems approach A conceptual framework. Energy Policy 46, 460-472.
- Chin, W.W., 1998. The partial least squares approach to structural equation modeling. In G.A. Marcoulides (Ed.), Modern methods for business research, 295–336. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Chin, W.W., Macolin, B.L., Newsted, P.N., 2003. A Partial Least Squares Latent Variable Modeling Approach for Measuring Interaction Effects: from a Monte Carlo Simulation Study and an Electronic-mail Emotion/adoption study. Information systems research 14 (2), 189-217.
- Christoffersen, L.-B., Larsen, A., & Togeby, M., 2006. Empirical analysis of energy management in Danish industry. Journal of Cleaner Production 14, 516 526.
- Clark, B.H., Abela, A.V., Ambler, T., 2005. Organizational motivation, opportunity and ability to measure marketing performance Journal of Strategic Marketing 13 (4), 241-259.
- Cohen, J. and Cohen, P., 1983. Applied Multiple Regression Correlation Analyses for The Behavioral Science. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Cooremans, C. 2011. Make it strategic! Financial investment logic is not enough. Energy Efficiency Journal 4 (4), 473-492.
- Davidson, P. 1991. Continued entrepreneurship: ability, need and opportunity as determinants of small firms growth. Journal of Business Venturing 6, 405-429.
- Davis, F. D., 1989. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology, MIS Quarterly 13 (3), 319–340.
- Dawson, J.F., Richer, A.W., 2006. Probing Three-way Interactions: The Development and Application of A Slope Difference Test. Journal of Applied Psychology 91, 917-926.
- de Buck, S.te, van Keulen, K., Bosselaar, L., Gerlagh, T., 2010. Protocol monitoring hernieuwbare energie (Protocol Monitoring Renewable Energy)—Update 2009. Agentschap NL, May 2010.
- DeCanio, Stephen J, 1998. The efficiency paradox: bureaucratic and organizational barriers to profitable energy-saving investments, Energy Policy 26 (5), 441-454.
- de Groot, H.L.F., Verhoef, E.T., Nijkamp, P., 2001. Energy savings by firms: decision making, barriers and policies. Energy Economics 23 (6), 717-740.

- Dieperink, C., Brand, I., Vermeulen, W., 2003. Diffusion of energy-saving innovations in industry and the built environment: Dutch studies as inputs for a more integrated analytical framework. Energy Policy 32, 773-784.
- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J.D., Christian, L.M., 2009. Internet, Mail, and Mixed-mode Surveys: the Tailored Design Method. Third Edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, United States.
- Dewar, R.D., and Dutton, J.E., 1986. The Adoption of Radical and Incremental Innovations: An Empirical Analysis, Management Science 32 (11), 1422-1433.

Fleiter, T., Schleich, J., Ravivanpong, P., 2012. Adoption of energy-efficiency measures in SMEs – An empirical analysis based on energy audit data from Germany. Energy Policy 51, 863.

Folan, P., Browne, J., Jagdev, H., 2007. Performance: Its meaning and content for today's business research, Computers in Industry 58, 605-620.

- Gonzalez-Benito, J., Gonzalez-Benito, O., 2005. A study of the motivations for the environmental transformation of companies. Industrial Marketing Management 34, 462–475.
- Gregor, S., 2006. The Nature of Theory in Information Systems. MIS Quarterly 30 (3), 611-642.

Harris, J., Andersson, J., Shafron, W., 2000. Investment in energy efficiency: a survey of Australian firms. Energy Policy 28, 867–876

- Hasanbeigi, A., Menke, C., du Pont, P., 2010. Barriers to energy efficiency improvement and decision-making behavior in Thai industry. Energy Efficiency 3 (1), 33-52.
- Herrmann, C., Thiede, S., 2009. Process chain simulation to foster energy efficiency in manufacturing. CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology 1, 221-229.
- Hirst, E. and Brown, M., 1990. Closing the efficiency gap: barriers to the efficient use of energy. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 3 (4), 267-281.
- Hofer, C., Cantor, D.E., Dai, J., 2012. The competitive determinants of a firm's environmental management activities: evidence from US manufacturing industries. Journal of Operations Management 30 (1-2), 69-84.
- Hughes, J., 2007. The Ability-Motivation-Opportunity Framework for Behavior Research in IS. Proceedings of the 40<sup>th</sup> Hawaii International Conference on Systems Sciences.

- Hyland, P.W., Mellor, R., Sloan, T., 2007. Performance measurement and continuous improvement: Are they linked to manufacturing strategy? Int. J. Technology Management 37 (3/1), 237-246.
- IEA, 2009. Energy Balances of Non-OECD Member Countries Extended Balances, vol. 2008 release 01. OECD/IEA, Paris, France.
- IEA, 2006. Energy Technology Perspectives 2006: Scenarios and strategies to 2050. International Energy Agency, OECD/IEA, 2006.
- IEA, 1997. Indicators of Energy Use and Energy Efficiency. IEA/OEDC, Paris.
- IFC, World Bank Group, 2010. Energy efficiency survey project on Energy Efficiency: A New Resource for Sustainable Growth. Researching energy efficiency practices among companies in Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Russia and Ukraine. International Finance Corporation (IFC) advisory services in Europe and Central Asia.
- Jaffe, A. B. and R. N. Stavins., 1994. The Energy-Efficiency Gap: What does it mean? Energy Policy 22 (10), 804-810.
- John, C., 2004. Maximizing energy savings with enterprise energy management systems. IEEE power & energy.
- Kammerer, D., 2009. The Effects of Customer Benefit and Regulation on Environmental Product Innovation. Empirical Evidence from Appliance Manufacturers in Germany, Ecological Economics 68, 2285–2295.
- Kogut, B. and Zander, U., 1992. Knowledge of the firm, combinative capabilities, and the replication of technology, Organization Science 3 (3), 383-397.
- Kostka, G., Moslener, U., Andreas, J.G., 2011. Barriers to energy efficiency improvement: Empirical evidence from small-and-medium sized enterprises in China, 178, Working paper series Frankfurt School of Finance and Management.
- Lawshe, C.H., 1945. Eight ways to check the value of a training program. Factory Management and Maintenance 103, 117–120.
- Leonard-Barton, D., 1990. A dual methodology for case studies: synergistic use of a longitudinal single site with replicated multiple sites. Organization Science 1 (3), 248-266.
- Liu, X., Yamamoto, R., Suk, S., 2013. A survey analysis of energy savings activities of industrial companies in Hyogo, Japan. Journal of Cleaner Production 66, 288.

- Luken, R., van Rompaey, F., Zigová, K., 2008. The Determinants of EST Adoption by Manufacturing Plants in Developing Countries. Ecological Economics 66, 141-152.
- Mathwick, C., Malhotra, N., Rigdon, E., 2001. Experiential value: conceptualization, measurement, and application in the catalog and internet shopping environment. Journal of Retailing 77 (Spring), 39–54.
- MacKenzie, S.B., Podsakoff, P.M., Podsakoff, N.P., 2011. Construct Measurement and Validation Procedures In MIS and Behavioral Research: Integrating New and Existing Techniques. MIS Quarterly 35 (2), 293-334.
- McKinsey & Co, 2010. Energy efficiency: A compelling global resource.
- McKinsey & Co, 2008. The State of Corporate Philantropy: A McKinsey Global Survey. McKinsey Quarterly 2008.
- Müller, E., Engelmann, J., Löffler, T., Strauch, J., 2009. Energieeffiziente Fabriken planen und betreiben. Springer, Berlin.
- Murillo-Luna, J.L., Garcés-Ayerbe, C., Rivera-Torres, P., 2011. Barriers to the Adoption of Proactive Environmental Strategies, Journal of Cleaner Production 19 (13), 1417-1425.
- Nagesha, N. and Balachandra, P., 2006. Barriers to energy efficiency in small industry clusters: Multi-criteria-based prioritization using the analytic hierarchy process. Energy 31 (12), 1969-1983.
- National Academy of Science, 2001. Effectiveness and Impact of Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) Standards. National Academy Press 2012.
- Neelis, M.L. and Pouwelse, J.W. 2008. Towards consistent and reliable Dutch and international energy statistics for the chemical industry, Energy Policy 36, 2719-2733.
- Nichols, Albert L., 1994. Demand Side Management. Overcoming Market Barriers or Obscuring Real Costs? Energy Policy 22 (10), 840-847.
- Palmer, K., Walls, M., Gordon, H., Gerarden, T., 2013. Assessing the energy efficiency information gap: results from a survey of home energy auditors. Energy Efficiency 6 (2), 271–292.
- Petter, S., Straub, D., Rai, A., 2007. Specifying Formative Constructs in Information Systems Research. MIS Quarterly 31 (4), 623-656.
- PNNL, 2006. Opportunity Analysis for Recovering Energy from Industrial Waste Heat and Emissions. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL), Washington.

- Prindle, W.R., 2010. From Shop Floor to Top Floor: Best Business Practices in Energy Efficiency. Available at: http://www.pewclimate.org/energyefficiency/corporate-energyefficiency-report
- Rezessy, S. and Bertoldi, P., 2011. Voluntary agreements in the field of energy efficiency and emission reduction: Review and analysis of experiences in the European Union. Energy Policy 39, 7121-7129.
- Rohdin, P. and Thollander, P., 2006. Barriers to and Driving Forces for Energy Efficiency in the Non-energy Intensive Manufacturing Industry in Sweden. Energy 31 (12), 1836-1844
- Rohdin, P., Thollander, P., Solding, P., 2007. Barriers to and drivers for energy efficiency in the Swedish foundry industry. Energy Policy 35 (1), 672-677.
- Sachs, N.M., 2012. Can We Regulate Our Way to Energy Efficiency? Product Standards as Climate Policy. Vanderbilt Law Review 65 (6).
- Sardianou, E., 2007. Estimating energy conservation patterns of Greek households, Energy Policy 35, 3778-3791.
- Sudhakara Reddy, B., 2013. Barriers and drivers to energy efficiency A new taxonomical approach. Energy Conversion and Management 74, 403–416
- Schleich, J., 2009. Barriers to energy efficiency: a comparison across the German commercial and services sector. Ecological Economics 68 (7), 2150-2159.
- Schleich, J., Gruber, E., 2008. Beyond case studies: barriers to energy efficiency in commerce and the services sector. Energy Economics 30 (2), 449-464.
- Siemsen, E., Roth, A., Balasubramanian, S., 2007. How motivation, opportunity and ability drive knowledge sharing: the constraining-factor model. Journal of Operations Management 26, 426-445.
- Singley, M. and Anderson, J., 1989. The Transfer of Cognitive Skill, Boston: Harvard University Press.
- Hewett, M.J., 1998. Achieving energy efficiency in a restructured electric utility industry. Report prepared for Minnesotans for an Energy Efficient Economy, Center for Energy & Environment, Minneapolis, MN.
- Sivill, L., Manninen, J., Hippinen, I. and Ahtila, P., 2013. Success factors of energy management in energy-intensive industries: Development priority of energy performance measurement. Int. J. Energy Res. 37, 936–951.

REFERENCES

- Sorrell, S., Mallett, A., Nye, S., 2011. Barriers to industrial energy efficiency: a literature review, 10/2011, Working paper, Vienna: United Nations Industrial Development Organization.
- Sorrell S., O'Malley, E., Schleich, J., Scott, S., 2004. The Economics of Energy Efficiency Barriers to Cost-Effective Investment, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Sorrell, S., Schleich, J., Scott, S., O'Malley, E., Trace, F., Boede, U., Ostertag, K., Radgen, P., 2000. Barriers to Energy Efficiency in Public and Private Organizations. Final report to DG Research under the project 'Barriers to Energy Efficiency in Public and Private Organizations'. SPRU - Science and Technology Policy Research, University of Sussex, Brighton.
- Stiglitz, J.E., 1991. Symposium on organizations and economics. The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 15-24.
- Terborg, J.R., 1977. Validation and extension of an individual differences model of work performance. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance 18 (2), 188-216.
- The Economist, 2014. Worldwide Cost of Living 2014.
- The Energetics. (2004). Energy Use, Loss, and Opportunities Analysis: U.S Manufacturing & Mining. Energetics, p. 17.
- Thollander, P. and Ottosson, M., 2010. Energy management practices in Swedish energy-intensive industries. Journal of Cleaner Production 18, 1125 -1133.
- Thollander, P. and Ottosson, M., 2008. An energy efficient Swedish pulp and paper industry - exploring barriers to and driving forces for cost-effective energy efficiency investments. Energy Efficiency 1, 21-34.
- Thollander, P., Danestig, M. et al., 2007. Energy policies for increased industrial energy efficiency: Evaluation of a local energy program for manufacturing SMEs. Energy Policy 35 (11), 5774-5783.
- Trianni, A. and Cagno, E., 2011. Dealing with barriers to energy efficiency and SMEs: Some empirical evidences. Energy 37 (1), 494–504.
- UNEP, 2006. Barriers to Energy Efficiency in Industry in Asia. United Nations Environment Program (UNEP).
- Velthuijsen, J.W., 1995. Determinants of Investment in Energy Conservation. Fondation for Economic Research of the University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam.

- Velthuijsen, J.W., 1993. Incentives for Investment in Energy Efficiency: An Econometric Evaluation and Policy Implications, Environmental and Resource Economics 3, 153-169.
- Vine, E., Hamrin, J., Crossley, D., Maloney, M., Watt, G., 2003. Public policy analysis of energy efficiency and load management in changing electricity businesses. Energy Policy 31 (5), 405–430.
- Vinzi, V.E., Henseler, J., Chin, W.W., Wang, H., 2010. Handbook of Partial Least Squares, Springer.
- Wang, G., Wang, Y. et al., 2008. Analysis of interactions among the barriers to energy saving in China. Energy Policy 36 (6), 1879-1889.
- Watson, J., Byrne, R., Jones, M.M., Tsang, F., Opazo, J., Fry, C., et al, 2012. What are the major barriers to increased use of modern energy services among the world's poorest people, and are interventions to overcome these effective? Collaboration for environmental evidence, Systematic Review CEE 11-004; 2012.
- Weber, L., 1997. Some Reflections on Barriers to the Efficient Use of Energy. Energy Policy 25 (10), 833-835.
- Worrel, E., Bernstein, L., Roy, J., Price, L., Harnisch, J., 2009. Industrial energy efficiency and climate change mitigation. Energy Efficiency 2, 109-123.
- Wu, Y., Balasubramanian, S., Mahajan, V., 2004. When is a preannounced product likely to be delayed? Journal of Marketing 68 (2), 101-113.